RECEIVED

07-23-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2013AP002316-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Jefferson Co. Case No. 2011CF000221

RICHARD J. SULLA,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE ORDERS DENYING DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN JEFFERSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JACQUELINE R. ERWIN AND THE HONORABLE DAVID J. WAMBACH, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, RICHARD J. SULLA

SUBMITTED BY:

Scott A. Szabrowicz State Bar Number 1029087 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

P.O. Address:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER SULLA SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO WITHDRAW HIS NO CONTEST PLEAS FOR A MANIFEST INJUSTICE.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: FOLLOWING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION HEARING, THE CIRCUIT COURT STATED NO.

II. WHETHER SULLA'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: FOLLOWING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION HEARING, THE CIRCUIT COURT STATED NO.

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATIONS REGARDING DISCLOSURE AND A JUDICIAL BIAS ISSUE.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: FOLLOWING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION HEARING, THE CIRCUIT COURT STATED NO.

IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: FOLLOWING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION HEARING, THE CIRCUIT COURT STATED THAT IT DID NOT.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument or publication in this case because he believes that the issues can be fully described in the parties' briefs and that the issues may be decided using presently established legal precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 2011, a criminal complaint was filed against Richard J. Sulla (Sulla) for four counts including: burglary while armed, conspiracy to commit arson of building, burglary of a building or dwelling, and operating a motor vehicle without the owner's consent – as party to a crime, all charges alleged as repeat criminal offender offenses. (R. 2: 1-7; A-Ap. 105-11).

The case progressed and on April 10, 2012, after Sulla pleaded no-contest to the offenses, he was adjudged convicted for one count of burglary while armed, as a repeater, under § 943.10(b) and § 939.62(1)(c), Wis. Stats., and one count of burglary to a building or dwelling, as a repeater, under § 943.10(1m)(a) and 939.62(1)(c), Wis. Stats. (R. 39: 1-3; A-Ap. 115-17).

On May 15, 2012, the Court sentenced Sulla to a fifteen-year total bifurcated imprisonment sentence consisting of seven and one-half years of initial confinement and seven and one-half years of extended supervision for the burglary while armed offense, consecutive to all other sentences, and to a consecutive total bifurcated five-year imprisonment sentence consisting

of two and one-half years of initial confinement and two and one-half years of extended supervision for the burglary to a building or dwelling offense. (R. 39: 1-3; A-Ap. 115-17).

On August 2, 2013, Sulla filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his no-contest pleas or alternatively for a sentence modification or resentencing. The postconviction motion also stated secondary issues of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and of judicial bias and conflict of interest. (R. 52: 1-2, R. 53: 1-15). Sulla further requested that the court order an evidentiary hearing including a *Machner* hearing to be held. (*Id.*). The State filled a response brief. (R. 56: 1-7). The circuit court held two non-evidentiary hearings on September 6, 2013 and September 23, 2013. (R. 67, 68). Thereafter, on September 27, 2013 and September 30, 2013 the circuit court entered two written decisions and orders denying Sulla's postconviction motion. (R. 58: 1-9, A-Ap. 124-32; R. 59: 1-4; A-Ap. 133-36).

This case is before this Court pursuant to Sulla's notice of appeal filed on October 15, 2013. (R. 61: 1-2).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 26, 2011, a criminal complaint was filed against Richard J. Sulla (Sulla) for four criminal counts: (count 1) burglary while armed, (count 2) conspiracy to commit arson of building, (count 3) burglary of a building or dwelling, and (count 4) operating a motor vehicle without owner's consent – as party to a crime, all crimes alleged a repeat offender penalty enhancer. (R. 2: 1-7; A-Ap. 105-11).

The complaint begins describing a burglary/house fire incident at a residence. (*Id.*). The complaint indicates that a Deputy Johnson of the Jefferson County Sheriff's office was dispatched to investigate a fire at W193 Oosty Avenue in the Town of Oconomowoc. (*Id.*). Upon arrival, the officer spoke to witnesses who indicated that flames were seen coming from the residence of Laurie and Joseph Dudley. (*Id.*). In part, the witnesses reported that two pick-up trucks were observed leaving the area at a high rate of speed, that the sound of glass breaking was heard, that there were flames seen in the residence basement window, and that the basement door was unlocked. (*Id.*). The complaint indicates that the officer spoke with the

father of Joseph Dudley and he stated that his son's family was out of town camping, and that they never left their house without locking the doors. (*Id.*). The complaint further states that Joseph Dudley, upon arriving home from camping, indicated that there were firearms missing from his gun cabinet:

The guns had been kept in a gun cabinet with glass doors that had been broken and were standing open. Joseph stated that he and his family always lock and deadbolt their doors. After speaking with Joseph, Detective Garcia determined that the fire was intentionally set to cover up a burglary. Joseph signed a no consent form stating he did not consent to the burglary, the damage to his residence or the theft of his property.

(*Id.*). The complaint further indicates that Joseph Dudley noticed silverware and keys missing from his house and that he found a propane tank in the basement area that had not been there before the burglary. (*Id.*).

The complaint then noted details of the second burglary investigation:

On October 1, 2010 at 10:03 p.m., Deputy Riesen of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office, was dispatched to W172 Bellview Avenue, in te Town of Ixonia, Jefferson County, Wisconsin [hereinafter the "Ziemann residence"] regarding a burglary. Upon arrival, Deputy Riesen met with the complainants Maria and Joseph Ziemann. The Ziemanns stated that their house had been burglarized on October 1, 2010 between 5:30 and 10:00 p.m. During this time, they had been at their son's football game in Beaver Dam. The Ziemanns stated that the house had not been locked. Maria stated that when they arrived

home, she noticed that her beige 2004 Windstar van with Wisconsin registration SCREEMN was missing from the garage. Deputy Riesen had the Ziemanns walk through the house and tell them everything that was missing. . . . Maria signed a no consent form stating that she did not consent to the burglary.

On October 12, 2010, Detective Maze of the Jefferson County Sheriff's office received a report that the Windstar van that had been stolen from the Ziemanns was currently at the Waukesha Huber Facility. Detective Maze spoke with Detective Rick Bach, who stated that the van had a stolen rear plate, but the original plate was still on the front.

(*Id.*). The complaint indicates that Maria Ziemann gave permission to search the van, and that during the search, several items were recovered, including a receipt from Greater Milwaukee Coin and Jewel Exchange, bearing the name of Richard Sulla, and indicating that Sulla had sold something to the shop. (*Id.*). Detective Maze, after speaking to Huber staff for the Waukesha County Jail, discovered that Sulla was an inmate at the Huber facility. (*Id.*).

Subsequently, Detective Maze conducted a Mirandized interview of Mr. Sulla, in which Sulla indicated that he received the van from a friend, and that the van had been involved in several burglaries, including one in Jefferson in which guns were taken and a fire occurred at the residence. (*Id.*).

The complaint further states that Detective Maze conducted another interview on October 13, 2010, during which Sulla denied his involvement in the burglary and arson of the Dudley's residence. (*Id.*). Sulla indicated that he was aware of the burglary, as he knew of three individuals who burglarized the residence, one of whom had discovered a hole in his glove, and thus, wished to destroy evidence linking him to the burglary, i.e., any fingerprints left, by way of setting fire to the crime scene. (*Id.*).

Further, the compliant indicates that Sulla stated that he did receive guns taken from the residence, and which he assisted the police in recovering the guns. (*Id.*). Sulla indicated to police that Scott Tarantino and Tony Vuk had involvement in the burglaries. (*Id.*). Sulla stated that he received property stolen from the Ziemann residence, which he was to sell including video games and at least one coin. (*Id.*).

The complaint indicates that Sulla was again interviewed by Detective Maze on October 26, 2010, during which Sulla stated that he was not involved in the burglary and arson at the Dudley's residence. (*Id*). Later,

during another interview, Sulla indicated that he had been involved in the burglary of the Ziemann residence with Scott Tarantino, in which Tarantino took the van and Sulla took various items to pawn. (*Id.*).

After the complaint was filed the case progressed. On September 12, 2011, the initial appearance was held and Sulla appeared without counsel by video-conference from the Racine Youthful Offender Correctional Facility. (R. 62: 1-15). On October 17, 2011, with a State Public Defender attorney now representing him, and after waiver of a preliminary hearing, the circuit court found probable cause to bind Sulla over for trial, and an information was filed and Sulla pled not guilty the offenses. (R. 63: 1-4).

The case further progressed through the judicial system. On April 9, 2012, there was a final pretrial and a motion hearing held in anticipation of a jury trial scheduled for the next day. (R. 64: 1-41). Following that hearing, in the evening, the defense attorney met with Mr. Sulla and set forth a proposed plea agreement. This particular meeting is significant as relevant to one of the main issues of this case, because Mr. Sulla asserts, as argued below,

that the attorney misadvised him regarding the effect of the arson read-in offense.

Ultimately, the next day, on April 10, 2012, Sulla pled no-contest and was adjudged convicted of one count of burglary while armed, as a repeater, under § 943.10(b) and § 939.62(1)(c), Wis. Stats., and one count of burglary to a building or dwelling, as a repeater, under § 943.10 (1m)(a) and 939.62(1)(c), Wis. Stats. (R. 39: 1-3, A-Ap. 115-17). In addition, counts 2 and 4, for conspiracy to commit arson and operating a motor vehicle without the owner's consent, were dismissed as *read-in offenses*. (R. 65: 3). Of note, the victims John and Laurie Dudley were present at the time of the plea and the circuit court made no mention of personal familiarity of either of them at that time. (*Id.* at 2-11),

On May 15, 2012, Sulla was brought before the court for sentencing. At the sentencing hearing, the circuit court disclosed the following:

THE COURT: Lawyers, let me disclose that Joe Dudley is a name familiar to me from my youth. My spouse and I grew up in Oconomowoc and I-I know the name, don't have any need to disclose, but so that you are aware.

(R. 66: 2).

The State, while not making a specific recommendation as to length of imprisonment, made a request for consecutive imprisonment and noted repeatedly the severity of the arson offense. (R. 66: 2-16). Defense counsel requested a fifteen year total bifurcated imprisonment sentence concurrent with Sulla's other imprisonment sentences in other cases in other counties, which the held a prison release date to community supervision of approximately May 11, 2025, i.e., thirteen years hence. (R. 66: 23; see also, R. 49: 3). The circuit court actually sentenced Sulla to a consecutive combined total bifurcated imprisonment sentence of twenty years, consisting of ten years of initial prison confinement and ten years of extended supervision. (R. 66: 54-55). The court also declared Sulla ineligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program or the Earned Credit Release. (*Id.*).

On August 2, 2013, Sulla filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his no-contest pleas, or alternatively, for a sentence modification or resentencing. (R. 52: 1-2, R. 53: 1-15). The postconviction motion also stated secondary issues of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and of judicial bias and conflict of interest. (*Id.*).

Sulla further requested that the court order an evidentiary hearing, including a *Machner* hearing, to be held. (*Id.*). The State filled a response brief. (R. 56: 1-7).

The circuit court held two non-evidentiary hearings, the first on September 6, 2013, and the second on September 23, 2013. (R. 67, 68). Thereafter, on September 27, 2013 and September 30, 2013, the circuit court entered two decisions and orders denying Sulla's postconviction motion. (R. 58: 1-9, A-Ap. 124-32; R. 59: 1-4; A-Ap. 133-36).

Sulla appeals from the judgment of conviction and the denial of his postconviction motion. (R. 61: 1-2).

Additional facts will be added to the arguments section of this brief as necessary.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT PERMITTING SULLA TO WITHDRAW HIS NO CONTEST PLEAS.

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, the issue of whether a plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Van Camp*, 213

Wis. 2d 131, 140, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997). The appellate court will not upset the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id*. The appellate court reviews Constitutional issues independently of the circuit court's determinations. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 382, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987).

B. Sulla Should Be Permitted to Withdraw His No Contest Pleas

Sulla first asserts, that upon his postconviction motion, the circuit court erred in not allowing him to withdraw his no contest pleas.

A criminal defendant attempting to withdraw a plea must make a prima facie showing that the plea was not intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily made. *State v. Canedy*, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 584, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991). After the sentencing has occurred, as is the case here, the criterion of "manifest injustice" must be shown in order to withdraw a plea. See *State v. Truman*, 187 Wis. 2d 622, 625, 523 N.W.2d 177, 178 (Ct. App. 1994). The manifest injustice standard requires the showing of a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea. See *Libke v. State*, 60 Wis.2d 121, 128, 208 N.W.2d 331, 335 (1973).

Defendants seeking to withdraw a plea after sentencing must demonstrate a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence. See *Truman*, 187 Wis. 2d at 625, 523 N.W.2d at 179.

As stated in his postconviction motion, Mr. Sulla asserts that he was misinformed and did not understand that the read-in charge for purposes of sentencing, he would effectively be considered to have committed the arson offense. Mr. Sulla throughout all stages of the cases consistently maintained that he was in no way involved in the arson offense. (R. 50: 1, ¶¶ 3-4; A-Ap. 118, 121). Sulla contends that because he did not know that the court would consider the arson offense as having been committed by him at the sentencing hearing, his pleas were therefore "unknowingly" entered.

When a defendant pleads no contest, he or she waives several constitutional rights. Waivers of constitutional rights must be voluntary, and also must be knowing, and intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences. See *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 90 S.Ct. at 1463 (1970).

Notably in this case, the *postconviction* circuit court stated that it reviewed the postconviction motion using both the *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), and *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996), analyses. (R. 67: 6, A-Ap. 129). In *State v. Hampton*, 2004 WI 107, ¶¶ 59-63, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted the distinction of the analyses regarding motions to withdraw guilty and no contest pleas:

- ¶ 59. "The nature and specificity of the required supporting facts will necessarily differ from case to case." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 314. For instance, in the case of a *White* violation, it is relatively easy to point to the discussion of the plea agreement in the plea hearing transcript and show that there was no reference to the fact that the court is not bound by the terms of the plea agreement. It would be considerably more difficult to expand on an allegation that the defendant did not understand information that was not conveyed to him.
- ¶ 60. By contrast, the *Bentley* court explained that normally a defendant is entitled to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing only upon a showing of "manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311. When, for example, the basis for this injustice is an allegation that defendant involuntarily entered a plea because of the ineffective assistance of counsel, his claim raises questions about both deficient performance and prejudice. *Id.* at 311-12. To establish deficient performance, a defendant must necessarily provide the factual basis for the court to make a legal determination. To show prejudice, a

defendant must do more than merely allege that he would have pleaded differently but for the alleged deficient performance. He must support that allegation with "objective factual assertions." *Id.* at 313.

- ¶ 61. Bangert-type violations should be apparent from the record. Bentley-type allegations will often depend on facts outside the record. To ask the court to examine facts outside the record in an evidentiary hearing requires a particularized motion with sufficient supporting facts to warrant the undertaking.
- ¶ 62. There is a second distinction between *Bangert*-type cases and *Bentley*-type cases. In *Bangert*-type cases, the defendant has the initial burden of showing the basis for a hearing; but if he succeeds, the burden shifts to the state to show by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 274.
- ¶ 63. In *Bentley*-type cases, the defendant has the burden of making a *prima facie* case for an evidentiary hearing, and if he succeeds, he still has the burden of proving all the elements of the alleged error, such as deficient performance and prejudice. The defendant must prove the linkage between his plea and the purported defect. The defendant's proof must add up to manifest injustice.
- Id., ¶¶ 59-63. Sulla notes that he pleaded specific supporting facts to his motion to withdraw his no contest pleas. (R. 49-53). In Sulla's affidavit he explained that he considered the court's recognition of his denial of the arson offense as a critical part of his agreement to the plea. (R. 50: 1-6, A-Ap. 118-23). Further, Sulla states that he was

misinformed by his attorney regarding what he believed to be the consequences of the no contest plea, regarding the arson, and that *he would not have pled no contest* to the offenses at the April 10, 2012 plea hearing had he known that the Court would consider the arson as having been committed by him.

The failure of Sulla to understand the ramifications of the read-in provides a basis for plea withdrawal as the pleas cannot be said to be freely, knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made.

Sulla's affidavit states, in part:

2. That on or about September 29, 2011, Attorney Jeffrey De La Rosa was appointed by the State Public Defender's office. That to my best of my belief Attorney De La Rosa had no more than about three telephone conferences with me and no more than two or three in person visits with me besides very brief visits in court or in the jail-holding areas at the time of hearings.

At one point I went for about four or five months without any visit or conversation with Attorney De La Rosa and I wrote to him expressing my concern in this regard. Attached as Exhibit A which is a copy of my correspondence to him.

3. That my Attorney De La Rosa told me that agreeing to the read-in offense of arson was not admitting guilt and that it was just something the Court would "look at" at sentencing. I did not understand and my Attorney did not explain the effect that a read-in offense has because Attorney De La Rosa did not explain it to me. In fact, *I did not commit the subject arson* and if I had known that it was going to be considered as a negative at my sentencing *I would not have entered the no-contest*

plea[.]

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