RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-14-2015

IN SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP2316-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD J. SULLA,

Defendant-Appellant.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, REVERSING AND REMANDING THE ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR PLEA WITHDRAWAL ENTERED IN JEFFERSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID J. WAMBACH, PRESIDING

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

> > BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

According to the court of appeals' decision:

[i]f it is true that the defendant failed to understand the essential concept, it should not normally matter what the reason for that failure was. . . . [I]t makes no difference to the ultimate outcome whether it was a misstatement by counsel that caused the defendant's misunderstanding, or whether instead the misunderstanding arose from some other source, such as a misstatement by the court, incorrect information from a friend, or the defendant's own internal failure to comprehend otherwise correct information.

(Slip op. ¶ 10; Pet-Ap. 106). This overly broad concept of the type of facts in an affidavit that are sufficient to require a hearing is highlighted further by the court of appeals discussion of the "scope of a court's ability to reject a postconviction motion's factual allegations on [the] basis" that

the "'record conclusively demonstrates' that a defendant is not entitled to relief" (Slip op. ¶¶ 16, 17; Pet-Ap. 108). The court of appeals set forth an unworkable standard for when the record "conclusively demonstrate[s]' the falsity of a defendant's factual allegations," holding that this can only be met "when, even after hearing the expected testimony in support of the postconviction motion at an evidentiary hearing, no reasonable fact-finder could find in the defendant's favor, in light of the rest of the record" (Slip op. ¶ 18; Pet-Ap. 108-09). Presumably, the defendant's "expected testimony" in this case refers to the statements in Sulla's affidavit alleging that he did not understand that the read-in arson charge would have a negative effect on his sentence.

The court of appeals acknowledged that requiring an evidentiary hearing based on a defendant's "expected testimony" set forth in an affidavit unless "no reasonable factfinder could find in the defendant's favor in light of the rest of the record" is an extraordinarily high standard when, as here, "the defendant's non-conclusory factual allegation is about something internal to the defendant, like her or his own understanding or intent, or is based on events that would not normally be covered by the existing record" (Slip op. ¶ 20; Pet-Ap. 109-10). Under the court of appeals' decision, whenever a defendant submits an affidavit alleging that he or she did not understand the effect of a read-in charge on sentencing, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing so that the defendant can testify about the claimed failure to understand the affect of a read-in charge on sentencing and "[o]nce the defendant testifies, other material in the existing record is entirely proper to consider in making a determination of the defendant's credibility" (Slip op. ¶ 20, Pet-Ap. 109-10).

Indeed, based on the court of appeals' decision, any time a defendant sets forth in an affidavit that in his or her own mind – whether based on something he or she heard from someone (an attorney, a family member, a friend, a stranger, anyone who wandered nearby), or some other source (a dream, a Ouija board, tarot reading, voices in his or her head) – that he or she did not understand that a read-in offense would be considered as a negative in sentencing, the defendant will be entitled to an evidentiary hearing. This is not a workable standard and is not in keeping with the holding in *Bentley* that, after a thorough examination of the entire record, the circuit court may exercise its discretion to deny a postconviction motion for plea withdrawal without a hearing if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 318-19.

In this case, the court of appeals held that the circuit court did not properly exercise its discretion to find that the entire record conclusively demonstrates that Sulla's claimed misunderstanding in an affidavit about the effect of a read-in offense was incredible, and therefore he was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a plea withdrawal motion. This court should reverse the court of appeals' decision requiring an evidentiary hearing on Sulla's motion for plea withdrawal based on his bald assertions that he did not understand that a read-in charge would negatively affect his sentence, and instead should uphold the circuit court's exercise of its discretion to deny Sulla's motion without a hearing. III. OF THE COURT APPEALS COMMITTED Α FUNDAMENTAL ERROR OF LAW BY HOLDING FACTS ALLEGED IN THAT THE SULLA'S **AFFIDAVIT** REQUIRED AN **EVIDENTIARY** HEARING WHEN, AS A MATTER OF LAW UNDER SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT, THOSE FACTS COULD NOT PROVIDE A BASIS FOR PLEA WITHDRAWAL.

The court of appeals, in remanding this case for an evidentiary hearing, ignored this court's decisions in *Frey*, 343 Wis. 2d 358 and *Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, which explain the plea-bargaining process and, in particular, establish that a read-in offense does not admit guilt to the charge but that, by its nature, a read-in charge will negatively affect the sentence imposed and may subject the defendant to restitution. By ignoring this precedent, the court of appeals committed a fundamental error of law because the facts in Sulla's affidavit that the court of appeals invoked to justify its remand are facts that, under *Frey* and *Straszkowski*, preclude relief as a matter of law.

A. The holdings in *Straszkowski* and *Frey*.

In *Straszkowski*, the defendant pled guilty to three charges (sexual assault, possession of drug paraphernalia and passing a worthless check), with two charges (for another sexual assault and a worthless-check offense) dismissed and read in. *Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 10-15. After sentencing, the defendant moved to withdraw his guilty pleas, "contend[ing] that his plea was not knowing and intelligent because he was unaware that a charge dismissed but read in under a plea agreement is deemed admitted for purposes of sentencing the defendant on the charge to which the defendant pled guilty." *Id.* ¶ 2. This court declared that "an admission of guilt is not required by our read-in procedure and that the circuit court

should avoid the terminology 'admit' or 'deemed admitted' in referring to or explaining a read-in charge for sentencing purposes except when a defendant does admit the read-in charge." *Id.* \P 6.

This court declared that Straszkowski's argument that his plea was not entered knowingly and intelligently because he was unaware that the circuit court would deem the read-in sexual assault charge to be admitted for sentencing purposes "is unconvincing": the record showed that neither the State, defense counsel, nor the circuit court ever referred to the readin charges as admitted or deemed admitted. *Id.* ¶¶ 32-40. Because the circuit court never considered the read-in charge admitted for sentencing purposes, the defendant failed to show that his plea was not knowingly entered. *Id.* ¶ 56.

Further, this court "withdr[ew] language in the case law that may be read as intimating that when a charge is read in a defendant must admit or is deemed to admit the read-in charge for sentencing purposes." *Id.* ¶ 95. "[N]o admission of guilt from a defendant for sentencing purposes is required (or should be deemed) for a read-in charge to be considered for sentencing purposes and to be dismissed." *Id.* ¶ 97.

In *Frey*, the central issue was whether the sentencing court could consider charges that were dismissed outright as a part of a plea agreement in imposing a sentence. *Frey*, 343 Wis. 2d 358 \P 40. After holding that the dismissed charges could be considered, this court "clarifi[ed] how the read-in procedure and dismissed charges fit into the plea bargaining process," and examined case law discussing the read-in procedure. *Id.* $\P\P$ 55, 61-79. In particular, this court held that

when the State and a defendant agree that charges will be read in, those charges are expected to be considered in sentencing, *State v. Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, ¶ 27, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155, with the understanding that the read-in

charges could increase the sentence up to the maximum that the defendant could receive for the conviction in exchange for the promise not to prosecute those additional offenses.

Id. ¶ 68.

In order to obtain this substantial benefit of avoiding prosecution for the read-in charges in the future, "the defendant exposes himself to the likelihood of a higher sentence within the sentencing range and the additional possibility of restitution for the offenses that are 'read-in.'" *Id*. \P 73. Therefore,

[b]oth parties may receive benefits from a read-in at sentencing and may negotiate such a procedure either as a part of the plea bargain or as part of sentencing. Also, both parties give something up by accepting a read-in procedure – the State agrees not to prosecute other crimes and a defendant risks greater restitution **and a higher sentence**.

Id. ¶ 74 (emphasis added).

B. Applicability of *Straszkowski* and *Frey* to the issues in this case.

Straszkowski held that a guilty plea was not rendered involuntary by the trial court's failure to inform a defendant that read-in charges would be considered for purposes of sentencing and that a read-in charge is not an admission of guilt. *Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 32-40. *Frey* clarified that "when the State and a defendant agree that charges will be read in, those charges are expected to be considered in sentencing … with the understanding that the read-in charges could increase the sentence up to the maximum that the defendant could receive for the conviction in exchange of the promise not to prosecute those additional offenses." *Frey*, 343 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 68.

Contrary to this precedent, the court of appeals in this case held that Sulla's statements in his affidavit - that his attorney told him that "agreeing to the read-in offense of arson was not admitting guilt and that it was just something the Court would "look at" at sentencing" and that "if [he] had known that it was going to be considered as a negative at [his] sentencing [he] would not have entered the no-contest plea'" (Slip op. ¶ 3; Pet-Ap. 104) – were sufficient to order a hearing. The court of appeals focused on what it described as "the ambiguity in the word 'guilt' as used in the alleged statement by counsel" and the "potential for confusion that is inherent in the read-in concept" (Slip op. ¶ 15; Pet-Ap. 107-08). Fundamentally, the court of appeals' decision, asserting that Sulla's counsel's use of the word "guilt" to explain to Sulla that by agreeing to have the arson charge read in he was "not admitting guilt" was "confusing" and accepting Sulla's argument that he did not understand that the read-in charge would negatively affect his sentence, directly contradicts this court's decisions in *Straszkowski* and *Frey*.

As set forth in Sulla's affidavit, Sulla's attorney's statement to Sulla that Sulla was not "admitting guilt" by agreeing to have the arson offense read in as part of his plea agreement is an accurate statement of the law and cannot be the basis for Sulla to claim his plea was entered into "unknowingly." By holding that this statement that he was not "admitting guilt" was confusing, citing "the potential for confusion inherent in the read-in concept," the court of appeals committed fundamental reversible error because, as a matter of law under Straszkowski, a defendant agreeing to a read-in charge is not admitting guilt to that charge. Therefore, the fact that his attorney told him correctly that he was not admitting guilt is insufficient to entitle Sulla to an evidentiary hearing on his plea-withdrawal motion.

In addition, while it remains true under *Straszkowski* that a read-in charge is not an admission of guilt, this court in its examination of the plea bargaining process in *Frey* recognized that the bargained-for agreement involving dismissed and read-in charges results in both the State and the defendant receiving benefits in exchange for giving something up. This court noted the trade-off that results from dismissing and reading in a charge as part of a plea agreement:

The promise by the prosecutor not to prosecute the read-in charges in the future is an essential component to a read-in. This bar to future prosecution is protected by due process.

In exchange for this benefit, **the defendant exposes himself to the likelihood of a higher sentence within the sentencing range and the additional possibility of restitution for the offenses that are "read-in."** Wisconsin Stat. § 973.20 requires that the sentencing judge order partial or full restitution for the crime of which a defendant was convicted and *for any read-in crime. See also Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 81-87, 750 N.W. 2d 835.

Both parties may receive benefits from a read-in at sentencing and may negotiate such a procedure either as a part of a plea bargain or as part of sentencing. Also, both parties give something up by accepting a read-in procedure – the State agrees not to prosecute other crimes and a defendant risks greater restitution and a higher sentence.

Frey, 343 Wis. 2d 358, $\P\P$ 72-74 (emphases added, citations omitted).

In this case, the circuit court explained to Sulla that readin charges would be considered in ordering restitution and ordered that he pay restitution as part of his sentence (66:51, 54). Sulla's statement in his affidavit that he was unaware that the read-in charge would be "considered a negative" is belied by the fact that in this case, the read-in charge was considered in the restitution order.

Further, this court in *Frey*, citing *Straszkowski* and its comprehensive discussion of the read-in procedure, held that "when the State and a defendant agree that charges will be read in, those charges are expected to be considered in sentencing ... with the understanding that the read-in charges could increase the sentence up to the maximum that the defendant could receive for the conviction in exchange for the promise not to prosecute those additional offenses." Frey, 343 Wis. 2d 358, **¶**¶ 63, 68. Therefore, under *Straszkowski* and *Frey*, Sulla could not reasonably believe that he was admitting guilt to the readin charge, or that the read-in charge would be either a neutral or positive factor at sentencing, rather than a negative factor, because a read-in charge, while not an admission of guilt, "exposes [the defendant] to the likelihood of a higher sentence" and the possibility of restitution. Frey, 343 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 73. This is a fundamental part of the plea-bargaining process: by receiving the benefit of having a charge dismissed, the defendant agrees to have the dismissed but read-in charge considered at sentencing and thus faces a higher sentence, up to the maximum for the convictions. The court of appeals committed an error of law when it held, in direct contradiction to this supreme court precedent, that these statements in Sulla's affidavit were facts that, if true, would entitle him to withdraw his plea.

CONCLUSION

The record is clear that Sulla entered no-contest pleas to two counts of burglaries. By terms of the plea agreement, the arson offense was dismissed and read in for purposes of being considered at sentencing and for ordering restitution. Both Sulla's attorney and the circuit court accurately explained that Sulla was not admitting guilt to the arson charge but that the read-in offense would be considered at sentencing. The circuit court properly denied Sulla's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal, finding that he had not alleged sufficient facts to entitle him to relief. Sulla's assertions - that his attorney told him he was not admitting guilt and that the arson read-in charge was something the court would consider at sentencing, and that if he had known it would be considered a negative at sentencing he would not have entered his plea – failed to allege sufficient, true facts entitling him to relief. Further, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion based on the record as a whole to deny an evidentiary hearing.

The court of appeals, by broadly expanding *Bentley*, ignoring *Straszkowski* and *Frey*, and not supporting its decision with any other case law, committed fundamental error in remanding the case for an evidentiary hearing on Sulla's plea withdrawal motion based on Sulla's mere claim that he did not understand that the read-in offense of arson would have a negative effect on his sentence. This court should reverse the court of appeals' decision remanding the case for an evidentiary hearing on Sulla's plea withdrawal motion, and affirm the court of appeals' denial of Sulla's claims of judicial bias and abuse of sentencing discretion.